










Arthur’s Round


Ireland’s best-known Irishman, his name and signature in every household and village in Ireland, and many abroad, is also the least known. Part of Dublin life for over two centuries, both family and brewery have passed into legend, but their origins have been obscured. Here, in the round, these origins are explored and the story of the man and his background told for the first time. Various sources are examined and myths about Arthur laid to rest, many of which were allowed to continue by his descendants. This narrative traces the family’s origins in Ulster, Gaelic and Protestant-Irish tenant-farmers from humble backgrounds on both sides, when Arthur’s father Richard appears as a household agent in Celbridge, Co. Kildare, in 1722 to work for Arthur Price, the Protestant Dean of Kildare. In 1755 Arthur takes on a brewery in Leixlip and joins the Kildare Friendly Brothers dining club in 1758, marrying and moving to St James’s Gate in 1759/60 where the business developed. By 1781 he is a patriarch and member of liberal ‘patriot’ political groups, diversifying his assets to preserve his wealth in unsettled times. Of a generation with Edmund Burke and Richard Brinsley Sheridan, this wily businessman built an empire that endured and expanded.


Family and social history combine with an account of the brewing process and descriptions of economic and political backgrounds in a rapidly developing Ireland, giving a rich weave to this tapestry. Visual sources include maps, rare original documents, prints, and photographs of associated houses and places, people, and artifacts. The result is a fascinating contextual portrait of an enigmatic figure, the founding father of one of Ireland’s most powerful dynasties. Patrick Guinness is a direct descendant of Arthur Guinness and worked in the city before turning his hand to a successful writing and lecturing career.


PATRICK GUINNESS was born in Dublin. After working in the London financial world he returned to Ireland in the 1990s. In addition to his research on Arthur Guinness, he is a life-long student of Dublin’s history, and he has recently become involved in researching Irish genetics. He has worked on several biographies and arthistorical books and has been published by Kildare’s history journal.
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Preface



ARTHUR GUINNESS (1725-1803) is one of those iconic Irishmen about whom very little is known by the public at large. Whether from family or brewery myth-making or from his keeping a low profile, certain key facts and myths have been repeated until a wheel-rut of anecdote has emerged that has become history. His name and signature are seen in and on nearly every Irish village and are widely known abroad. His business and its social offshoots have formed an integral part of Dublin life for over two centuries. Two and a half centuries after his first brewing on his own account in 1755, it is time to consider him and the Ireland in which he lived. Very few biographies have been published about Irish people of his time who were not politicians, so, apart from being the first publication to consider Arthur himself in the round, it is also a tale of grey areas.


Since Howard and Henry Guinness’s useful notes were assembled and typed up between 1922 and 1934, and one of family trees prepared in three editions by Brian Guinness between 1955 and 1985, a clutch of books has been written on the family and brewery in recent decades, focusing largely on the application of wealth over the last two centuries. These include a brief brewery history (1955) and works by George Martelli (1957), Desmond Moore (1959), P. Lynch and J. Vaizey (1960), Peter Walsh (1980), Frederic Mullally (1981), Jonathan Guinness (1997), Derek Wilson (1998) and Michele Guinness (1990, 1999), together with some general television documentaries in the past few years.


All these contain inaccuracies – that the brewery’s water supply came from the River Liffey is a well-known one. To be fair, most of these studies deal with the whole history of the entire family and not just Arthur, and in spanning over two hundred years they rather rush on past him to the main focus of their sagas. The volume by Lynch and Vaizey was an official brewery history up to 1876, well prepared on the economic story but short on local and social history, and it has been heavily plagiarized. It should be read alongside L.M. Cullen’s 1972 book on the Irish economy after 1660, which has a wider angle. Essays by the Trinity College Dublin lecturer Sean Dunne (2003) have some novel and interesting interpretations and were based perhaps on his sociology dissertation at University College Dublin, now lost. Unfortunately he has felt unable to share the notes and references that would support his views. Dr Tanya Cassidy could not be contacted by post or email about her research. Recent analyses by Frederick Aalen (1990), S.R. Dennison and Oliver MacDonagh (1998), Peter Malpass (1998), Al Byrne (1999), Dr Andrew Bielenberg (2003) and Tony Corcoran (2005) concentrate usefully on the brewery as a social and economic phenomenon. Brenda Murphy and Kerry Byrne are, at the time of writing, working separately on the history of the beer itself.


Details apart, none of these many writers on Guinness has looked at its creator in any depth; this is the first attempt. In the process of the story I have considered their analyses and disagree on some points; the reader must decide if I am reasonable or not. Naturally, I have had to avoid ancestor-worship. Other mistakes have arisen from modern advertising and television, which is generally amusing but which has its own priorities, and the internet, which has thrown up a host of notes. Having its commercial aspect the ‘heritage industry’ feeds off, but must not be confused with, history. It seemed right that some analysis and attempt at chronology should be done outside of the restrictions of commercial, academic or government sponsorship – perhaps via the internet – but the volume of new material suggested it be preserved in book form.


Today, school-examination papers in Ireland mention Arthur, and the Guinness website describes him as a ‘magic ingredient’. But how much of what we know about him is based on publicity generated over the last century by my own family? If he is seen today as an icon of Georgian Dublin, how iconic would he have been in his own time? The book examines this issue.


Arthur’s political views are also examined for the first time, and can been seen to have been aligned with those of Richard Brinsley Sheridan and Edmund Burke. All three had a better grasp of the relationship between Britain and Ireland than most of their contemporaries. They understood the need for cautious political progress without bloodshed. This aspect of Arthur’s life has never been fully explored. Henry Grattan was his man. The world of the Protestant Ascendancy was a two-way street for an indigenous Irishman if he chose to play by the rules. In its Volunteer phase Arthur’s political leanings may be linked to the Duke of Leinster’s liberal stance. His patriot tendencies thus come into clearer focus, and I attempt to explain that unsuccessful formula for Irish political conciliation. Towards the end of his life his views on Catholic emancipation have been classified by Professor R.B. McDowell as ‘extreme liberal’, yet he would not support violent revolution to promote change. One aim of biography is to examine the subject as a man of his time; while the man can be described, every reader will have a different idea of the time.


The most useful sources on his parents’ important and largely ignored years living in and near Celbridge (1690–1764) are the notes of the late Lena Boylan. A stalwart of the Kildare Archaeological Society, she had read hundreds of letters to and from local people of all backgrounds. She was a compendium of the entire history of Celbridge and its recorded inhabitants from the earliest times up to date. Living on the Main Street and knowing every inch of the village, she could correlate all the names and mapless plots of land mentioned in old title deeds. She copied her notes to me in 1997 and assembled details on the local members of Arthur’s dining club, the Friendly Brothers of St Patrick. The club’s minute book for the years 1777 to 1791 was kindly made available for the first time in 2000, unlocking a wealth of material. This unknown local history colours and enlarges the better-known story of the city brewer.


In 1997 County Kildare historian Colonel Con Costello invited me to give the county’s Heritage Day speech at Arthur’s grave. In preparing for it I realized how much had been ignored and forgotten by the family, how little I knew of its origins and how many contradictory stories there were. In 2000 I supplied Leixlip Town Council with a millennium essay, and in 2001 the Kil-dare Archaeological Society kindly published my research on the Friendly Brothers of St Patrick. Since then I have been asked to speak to a number of other groups, while some novel and relevant genetic research has accumulated and was prepared for a thesis by Brian McEvoy published in 2004. The known facts are here, with considerable analysis of the many myths. Devoid of heroics, this is largely a family story of several generations of people of low or middling status who progress by small steps.


The genetic networks of County Down surnames included here comprise another new element and are designed to show degrees of relatedness of male ancestries at a glance, without scientific jargon or strings of numbers. I particularly thank Dr Brian McEvoy of Trinity College Dublin for preparing and lending them from his recent publications. I want to thank his 315 volunteer donors, of whom all bar four are unknown to me. Arthur’s life was a continuation of a gradual cultural process of moving from the Gaelic polity to the commercial world, an acclimatization to be appreciated as slowly as a pint.


For those wanting more on the background of life in the Georgian city, the best source is still Dublin 1660–1860 by Dr Maurice Craig and Dr Johnson’s London by Liza Picard. For erudite comments on the Dublin street scene in 1760, the Cries of Dublin (2003), edited by William Laffan, is indispensable. Looking back at life before electricity, modern hygiene, aircraft, cars, telephones or the ideas of Darwin, Edison, Ford, Einstein and Gandhi requires a great leap of imagination. The background setting of Dublin and Kildare in Arthur’s day is explored, and his family, business, political, social and charitable interests provide his main round. His life was also a round, returning with deliberate emotion to his place of origin – and of course he created the ideal material for innumerable liquid rounds.


Most of the Irish population have successfully adapted to urban life over the last century, and now seek a higher education and greater wealth. Ireland has changed from the inward-looking place of my youth to a more confident and realistic country, especially in the economic and financial fields. Its confident ability to raise employment, skills, inward investment and morale in the last decade would have had Arthur’s full blessing, and, in return, today’s Irish readership can better understand his and his family’s commercial activities and priorities.


For anyone truly interested in Arthur’s creation, the Storehouse Museum at the Guinness brewery in Dublin must be seen and smelt, having a wonderful system of vents to allow visitors to sense the brew at its various stages. In 2000 it hosted a reception by the Irish Taoiseach Bertie Ahern for President Bill Clinton of the USA, at which Mr Ahern said:


We’re gathered in St James’s Gate in the heart of the Liberties of the greatest city in the world. The Liberties are one of Dublin’s great communities, and it’s here that a great Irish businessman, Arthur Guinness, started the brew Guinness over 250 years ago, which in time became a global brand with strong links to Ireland. And the Guinness story reminds us that innovation and trade are very much part and parcel of the heritage of Dublin and this community.


Arthur’s story must also consider what it took to progress in the Ireland of his day, and a question emerges as to why so few of his fellow Irishmen applied themselves to the basic skills of writing and trade. Was this cultural or from habit, or a lack of encouragement, resources or opportunity? Why was Mr Ahern’s ‘innovation and trade’ adopted by the Guinnesses but not by many others? It will be seen that he had an unsuspected head start, prepared by his parents and even his grandparents, inheriting money and skills, and their contributions have not been recorded until now. Their homes near to Dublin and his move to the city made the difference. Luck and steady hard work also played their part. Quiet consistency is a theme in his work and his politics. All my life I have been asked where Arthur brewed the first pint. The question is not as simple as it sounds. Depending on the beer in question, the many myths and the unusual facts, I have teased out the unexpected answer – or answers.


This book is a tribute to the man who made one drink virtually synonymous with the country of Ireland.


All opinions and any errors in this book are mine, but I must acknowledge my gratitude and large or small debts for advice, information and encouragement from the following individuals: Sir Richard Aylmer; Toby Barnard; Sergio Benedetti; Ursula Bond; the late Lena Boylan and her daughter Catherine; Liam Chambers; John Colgan; Maurice Craig; the late Colonel Con Costello; Grattan de Courcy Wheeler; John Deaton; William Dick; David Dickson; Antony Farrell; Alex Findlater; Raymond Gillespie; Paul Guinness; Robert Guinness; Enda Lee; Charles Lysaght; Philip Magennis; Brian McCabe; Seán McCartan; Harry McDowell; R.B. McDowell; Donald Mills; Kevin Nowlan; Harold O’Sullivan; David McConnell; Kay Muhr; Chris Pomery; Jim Tancred; Kevin Whelan. I am also indebted to to the helpful assistance of all at Peter Owen Publishers; the staff of the National Library of Ireland; Eibhlín Roche and everyone at the Guinness brewery archives; Daniel Bradley, Brian McEvoy and the staff at the Genetics Department at Trinity College Dublin; Fred Krehbiel and William Laffan; and, not least, my father Desmond, my sister Marina and the saintly patience of my wife Louise.


I have included maps – old ones where possible – and images for which I hope I have also given sufficient acknowledgement. Measurements are generally given in imperial/avoirdupois with metric conversions provided in an appendix.


Patrick Guinness


2007
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CHAPTER ONE



Origins


THE FAMILY FOUNDATIONS must first be laid down before we look at the man himself, and an understanding of Irish history will add some nuances to the facts. Arthur’s parents – Richard Guinness (c. 1690–1766) and Elizabeth Read (1698–1742) – and their families emerged into the eighteenth century from the humblest of backgrounds, and he must often have reflected on this progress and how best to continue that momentum in his own life. He never denied his origins – rather the contrary – but he also did not allow them to limit him.


His mother Elizabeth’s family, the Reads, lived five miles from his birthplace in Celbridge and must have been visited often in his childhood. Her parents were William and Catherine Read, tenant-farmers at Oughterard near Ard-clough, in the north-east of County Kildare. The evidence is still there: today’s visitor can drive out of Dublin on the Cork–Limerick main road and swing northwards at Junction 6, signed for Castlewarden, continuing for about a mile to the summit of a ridge and parking at a gate reading Oughterard Cemetery.


In Kildare, the anglicized surname Read derives from Mulready, or in the old Gaelic language Ó Maoil Bhríghde, a ‘grandson of a servant of the cult of St Bridget’. At Oughterard – uachtar ard means upper height in Gaelic – stands a ruined church and round tower that were part of a monastery dedicated to St Bridget that was destroyed by the Dublin Vikings in 995 and again in 1094.1 It also suggests that the Reads could have lived on or near the hilltop for centuries. The name Bridget, who was the patron saint of County Kildare (d. 520), derives from Bríd, or Brig, a pre-Christian fertility goddess associated with the druidic feast of Imbolc that took place in early February. It is also said that the St Bridget of Oughterard lived long after the original saint. The hilltop stands on a prehistoric ley line running from standing stones to its south northwards via other religious sites to a ford over the Liffey near Celbridge. Like many such places in Europe it was made Christian by building a church on the summit. In the Gaelic era, up to 1171, Oughterard was close to Liamhán (Lyons), the centre of the local kingdom of the Ó Dunnchada (Dunphy) family, who in turn were part of the Uí Faolain ruling dynasty in north Leinster.


When the Normans arrived after 1169 the area passed to Adam de Hereford, who willed it to a monastery in Dublin eighteen miles away. The Papal taxation of 1303 lists the annual value of ‘Outherard’ manor at twelve pounds, with a tithe of twelve shillings. A tower was built and the area was included in the defence of the ‘Machery’, the plain around Dublin where it was safe to use Norman law. In the 1530s all such monastic lands were seized by Henry VIII, and Oughterard was sold to the Alen family.2 Such confiscations were ratified by the Papacy and Queen Mary in 1554 without local consultation. It then passed through marriages to the Anglo-Irish Ponsonbys from Tipperary, who lived there during Arthur’s lifetime.


Up to the 1580s the Gaelic O’Toole clan, descendants of the Uí Faolain dynasty, would descend in armed raids from the eastern hills unless they were paid off by the locals with a ‘black rent’, which in 1574 came to £1. 6s. 8d. for Oughterard parish. This was costly, being about three times the nine shillings that the tenant-farmers paid to the landlord as their legal rent.3 To everyone’s relief, the clan was suppressed by 1600. In the civil wars of the 1640s the locals saw the armies march and counter-march on the main road far below, and royalists burnt Lyons manor in 1642. The parish was a war zone for eight years, being near the main road to the south-west out of Dublin. The Confederate Irish made incursions in the mid-1640s, burning crops and buildings, and finally whatever was left in the area was destroyed in 1650 by the English Cromwellian cavalry under Colonel Hewson.


In 1690 Arthur’s farmer-grandfather, William Read, had bought a licence to sell ale in order to give himself some extra income, the first written proof of any link to beer in the family.4 William would not have sold someone else’s ale but would have brewed it himself, as many households did, as it was safer to drink than water. Living near the main Dublin–Cork road, it is likely that he sold his beer off a stall to passing traffic, most of which was on foot. Between 1689 and 1691 the road swarmed with the heavy passage of armies, officials, baggage and artillery trains, camp followers and refugees arising from the war between Kings James II and William III. Whichever of them won would make little difference to William Read. We can picture a regiment struggling into the foothills several hours’ march south of Dublin on the rough, rutted, dusty main road and seeing a welcome ale tent with jugs of beer waiting to hit their thirsty palates. A later picture by Francis Wheatley, An Ale Tent at Donnybrook Fair, suggests the scene (Plate 2).5


Brewing ale was an ancient Irish skill, improved by the later addition of hops. Dioscorides – the first-century Greek physician and botanist – noted that the Hiberi (the Irish; usually Hiberni) drank a liquor called courmi, which appears similar to the Gaelic coirm, meaning ale. In the Irish Táin saga, King Conchubar (Conor) was said to spend a third of his time ‘drinking ale until sleep overtakes him’. In the Críth Gablach, a law tract of the 700s, a king’s weekly routine was considered: ‘Sunday for drinking ale, for he is no rightful prince who does not promise ale for every Sunday.’ The ancient Gaelic text, the Senchas Mór, refers to the testing of malt barley for ale-making. The former high kings of Ireland had to marry symbolically the goddess-queen Medb (Maeve), meaning ‘the drunken’ or ‘she who makes drunk’, at Tara by drinking ale and so acquiring sovereignty. St Patrick brought his personal brewer, Mescan, with him on his missionary tours, giving him status when visiting royal families whom he hoped to convert.


By William Read’s day ale was the safest drink in everyday life, as running or well waters were often unclean. Compared with whiskey (uisce beatha, ‘the water of life’), low-alcohol ale was safe for all the family and could be stored for a short time, as the alcohol killed any germs. The use of hops from the Middle Ages defined beer as distinct from ale, but eventually it was used in both. While hops imparted flavour and allowed the brew to be stored longer, they were not immediately popular and were seen in England as a German import. According to Andrew Boorde’s Dyetary of Helth (1542):


Bere is the naturall drynke for a Dutche man and nowe of late dayes it is moche used in Englande to the detryment of many Englysshe people … If the bere be well served, and be fyned [clear], and not new, it doth gualyfy [reduce] the heat of the lyver.


People have always been particular about the quality of their beer.


William finally made it on to the Kildare electoral rolls in 1715 after the advent of the Hanoverians, proof that he had attained a certain level of wealth, and it is likely that he converted to Protestantism, the official denomination, around this time. William’s involvement in beer-selling, the first known in the family, has generally been overlooked, but it was also a social turning point, the first sign that the Reads wanted to become involved in a non-farming income. Many myths about the origins of Arthur’s famous black porter beer have arisen: Arthur’s father burnt some malting barley by mistake, but it tasted fine; or the recipe came to the him from one place or another; most unlikely of all was the suggestion that it came to Arthur in his clergyman-employer’s will, having been sat on, unused, for decades. As we shall see, Arthur first sold a dark beer in 1778 in response to imports from England. All the myths seem unlikely in the light of William’s 1690 licence, and there is no evidence that Arthur’s father ever brewed beer, although he must have understood the process and later married an inn-keeping widow.


Another local William Read of the previous generation may be found in the records.6 He was listed in 1640 as a shepherd minding some three hundred-sheep for a ‘New English’ landlord, Sir Philip Perceval (1603–47), for the modest annual pay of ‘diet and £2’ in the townland of Castlewarden, which is adjacent to Oughterard. By contrast, Teige McShane, a cowherd, was paid six pounds; the gardener, Anthony Geffery, twelve pounds; and the bailiff, James Scully, eight pounds. It seems that Read was at the bottom of the heap. Sir Philip also paid the Alen family seventeen shillings and sixpence for the annual chief rent of Oughterard itself. He had arrived from England and started his career checking property titles in Dublin Castle as a humble administrator in the 1620s on a salary of thirteen pounds a year. By 1641 he had somehow legally acquired 99,900 statute acres in Ireland, which gave him an annual income of £6,000.7


This William Read was Elizabeth’s grandfather, as no other Reads are mentioned at that time, and William remained a popular name in the Read family for more than a century. But how could he have risen from lowly shepherd to the relatively secure status of tenant-farmer between 1640 and 1690? The civil wars of 1641–50 and the Percevals’ archives suggest the answer. Sir Philip had acquired sudden and great wealth in Ireland, typical of many unpopular ‘New English’ officials, which was lost for a time in the civil wars of the 1640s. Starting as a royalist, by 1644 he was swimming with the tide and had joined the English parliamentarians.


His land agent Valentine Savage, living in the safety of Dublin, complained in a stream of letters to Perceval in England in August 1647 about the state of his 396 acres and the lawlessness in north-east Kildare after nearly six years of warfare:


I believe they will plunder me for want of linen and to buy them firing [firewood] &c. I might have prevented this and other inconveniences as the burning of your house and corn twice … I can neither preserve your things nor subsist longer myself … you have much more in arrears [of rent] due than will ever be paid.8


It was a litany of woe. The previous April he could not even find reliable English tenant-farmers ‘that have stocks’ [farm animals] to take the land free of rent ‘until you come over’. Savage hoped that his patron would arrive with an English protective force, but Perceval died in London that November.


That long upheaval, followed by the Cromwellian raids, would have created an opening after 1650 for countrymen with local knowledge such as William Read the shepherd. The land had to be farmed by someone – anyone – at any rent or none, or it would have reverted to a wilderness. Famine and plague followed the wars, leaving fewer experienced, able-bodied peasants alive to keep things in order. In the Civil Survey of 1654–5 the main house at Castlewarden was said to have been worth £2,000 in 1640 but had ‘decayed’ to a value of £1,000. The next agent wrote to Perceval’s son in 1655: ‘Let Castlewarden building stand still awhile and erect nothing but little houses for tenants.’9 It was the obvious opportunity for Read to step upwards on to the first rungs of the agricultural ladder. Although the area was close to Dublin, we must imagine a low level of civility, as the first printed but roadless map of Kildare was published as late as 1685. In the early 1720s Elizabeth Read, daughter of William the tenant-farmer – and granddaughter of the first William Read – married Richard Guinness, possibly in the church at Oughterard, and their first child, Arthur, was born in Celbridge in 1725.


Richard Guinness’s immediate ancestry has been harder to trace and has been the subject of much speculation and lengthy research from many quarters. He appears from nowhere in 1722, working for a clergyman, Dr Arthur Price, in Celbridge, County Kildare. Price is a Welsh surname pronounced ‘Preece’.10 Price’s father had been a local clergyman in Kildare, and his family came originally from Cardiganshire.


Richard’s father was a Protestant tenant-farmer named Eoin (or Owen) ‘Guinneas’ or ‘Guinis’ of Dalkey and later of Simmonscourt just south-east of Dublin. This background is traceable in birth entries and a lease of 1726.11 Owen Guinneas was a sidesman at Donnybrook Church in 1714, and Richard would therefore have been baptized as a Protestant. Farmer Guinneas had elder sons, and Richard had elder brothers named George and William. Richard’s brother William was born in 1689, but Richard’s birthdate around 1691 was unrecorded, evidently because another civil war was in progress or because the family moved to Simmonscourt that year. ‘Owen Guinis of Symon Court, farmer’ was a defendant in a 1714 debt recovery case.12 Later, William and Richard Guinis were named in a lease-for-three-lives (a lease that lasted as long as one of the three men named in the document was still alive) granted by Joseph Leeson on 5 January 1726 for ‘their brother’ George, a dairyman who had moved to Milltown, then just a few fields away from Simmonscourt in the next parish. A later map shows how close they are (Plate 36). This is a feasible paper link, where the first lease had fallen in and the farm business moves to another tenancy near by. The name Owen – or Eoin – suggests a Gaelic-origin ancestry. He had another son named John, the anglicized version of Eoin, who had died in 1718.13 The farm being so close to Dublin would have given Richard the opportunity to learn to read at the village school and to gain some experience of the varied realities and opportunities of life in the city and the countryside in his formative years.


Owen had no written lineage himself, but his family’s oral tradition was made plain by his grandson. In 1761 Arthur Guinness assumed the arms of the Gaelic Magennis (Mac Aonghusa) clan from Iveagh (Uíbh Eachach), in west County Down in Ulster.14 Their chiefs had been ennobled as Viscount Magennis of Iveagh between 1623 and 1693, in return for paying £2,000 to one of James I’s favourites and subsequently as counts in the Spanish peerage. This suggests that he believed that he was related to these Magennises, also spelt MacGuinness, and that his forebears had anglicized their surname in the 1600s by ‘dropping the Mac’ – mac means ‘son of’ in Gaelic – as many others did. Several branches of the clan had also been Protestant since 1541, so to Arthur it must all have seemed a reasonable continuity. Besides, the Magennises had sold half of their 100,000 acres after 1610, rebelled in 1641 and were dispossessed, even the Protestant Magennises, of the rest in 1657 under Henry Cromwell’s administration.15 Many of the poorer Magennises then moved south to Dublin where we find Owen Guinneas from the 1680s.16 To Arthur in 1761 such an origin would have spoken of ancient roots torn up by sudden loss from warfare, with new people moving in and displacing the original inhabitants.


Family historians such as Howard and Henry Guinness made much study of this possibility in the years 1900 to 1934 and usefully exploded a number of myths.17 However, they also concentrated mainly on the senior Magennis viscounts of the Rathfriland branch who died out in the male line but ignored the other twelve branches of the clan with their varied histories. Nothing concrete was found, and Henry concluded that Richard Guinness or his father might also have come from a hamlet called St Gennys in Cornwall – although he omitted to mention that his source for this theory, his great-uncle, had been bankrupted and convicted of electoral fraud, so might not have been entirely reliable.18 Further, this great-uncle had been an MP in Devon, next to Cornwall, in the 1850s, and may have wanted to portray himself to his electorate as having local origins. Others, such as Mullally, plagiarized this idea of a Cornish origin without a second thought, and this, in its turn, has become another myth based on hearsay.19


It would, in any case, have been most unlikely in the Ireland of 1761 – a time when the Penal Laws discriminated in favour of the Protestant Church of Ireland – for a young Cornish-origin Protestant merchant to assume the arms of a Gaelic-Irish Catholic Jacobite family that had been dispossessed of its lands in 1693. So what element of truth lay behind the assumption of arms in 1761 – an illegitimate descent from the chiefs, perhaps? In 1997 it seemed to me that a lack of a paper trail back to Ulster proved nothing more than that our ancestors had arrived poor in Dublin. Poor families escape the taxman and are seldom written about. A number of fires caused by revolutionaries in 1798, 1920 and 1922 had destroyed most Irish medieval parish records and many ancient legal documents – surely a twisted patriotism – but much research had already been done for the family by 1920, and yet little was found. Guinis/Guinneas/Ginnies is a rare and noticeable name in the records. However, a new type of historical record, DNA analysis, had become available by the time of my research, and this did reveal the truth.20


A recent male-ancestry genetic survey by Dan Bradley and Brian McEvoy at Trinity College Dublin on the Y-chromosomes of 315 men with Gaelic-clan East Ulster surnames added a considerable twist.21 Like a surname, this chromosome passes only from father to son, with slow mutations over time. It was unlikely, but just possible, that we descended from the Genese family of Dublin-Jewish merchants, but no typically Middle-Eastern result was found. The reams of data threw several questions into sharp focus:


Was today’s ‘Guinness of Dublin’ male DNA all the same, revealing our common ancestor Richard’s own DNA pattern? Was Richard’s pattern found in men alive today with Gaelic-era County Down surnames? Was the same pattern shared by the descendants of the former Magennis chiefs?


The answers to these were ‘yes’, ‘yes’ and ‘no’. Richard’s male-line ancestors did come from County Down, but our closest DNA cousins are not the Magennis chiefs but are now surnamed McCartan. In the McCartans’ former barony of Kinelarty in central County Down there also happens to be a hilly townland and hamlet, variously spelt Guiness or Ginnies, which has been overlooked by the family’s historians to date.22 It derives from the place name Gion Ais, Gaelic for a wedge-shaped ridge, and not at all from the surname Mac Aonghusa or MacGuinness.


To explain the two networks of genetic results, the first looks at Magennises and McCartans, including derived names – agnomina – such as Neeson and McCreesh (Plate 37). Men with a similar DNA profile appear in clusters, each larger or smaller according to the number of men having that profile. The written cousinage of the Magennis and McCartan chiefs is confirmed, and their cluster is shown at A. The ‘Guinness of Dublin’ result is shown in green at B, and its closest cousins are seen to be those McCartans who were not chiefs. In a larger network of Gaelic surnames described by Brian McEvoy as the ‘East Ulster genetic landscape’, the same relatedness is seen (Plate 38). It took over a year for Dr McEvoy’s findings to be peer-reviewed and published in the eminent journal Human Genetics in early 2006.


The once-ruling Magennis and McCartan chiefs had a listed mutual ancestor, Mongán, son of Sarán, who lived around 600 AD.23 Finding their very distinct male-DNA profile in their descendants in 2003 and proving the oldest male lineage in Europe to be confirmed by genetics was a fascinating discovery. The cluster at A has star-shaped offshoots that show some normal, haphazard mutations of genetic code in Mongán’s male descendants. Applying probability maths to find the age of the whole star-cluster gives a time-depth of some 1,500 years, exactly the century in which he and Sarán were alive. But this dynastic male DNA profile of the chiefs’ derbfine – those cousins electable to the chieftainship – in the two clans is also thousands of years distant from today’s Guinnesses, 78 per cent of Magennises, however spelt today, and 50 per cent of the McCartans tested.


It is now apparent that in most Irish and Scottish clans many men took their chiefs’ surname as a badge of identity, alliance or reward but could never be elected chiefs of their clan, having no shared male ancestry with the derbfine.24 There is also a Guinness family living in County Down that is neither related to us nor to the chiefs. Just one man in the 120 Magennises tested was very close to the Guinness and to the plebeian-McCartan DNA profile. By using the clan chiefs’ or viscounts’ arms from 1761 Arthur made a mistake that is still common today, assuming that men of the same surname are all somehow descended from one man. This misreading of Arthur’s exact County Down origin was understandable but led to continuing innocent errors. In 1814 his son Hosea applied to the Herald for a grant of the Magennis arms and was allowed an amended version, and in 1891 his great-grandson chose the title of Lord Iveagh.


In the ‘Guinness of Dublin’ tests, the male-DNA profiles of two men from Arthur’s eldest sons’ descents (born in 1765 and 1768) and one from his brother Samuel’s (born c. 1727) were very similar, and therefore that commonly inherited profile was the profile of Richard, the common ancestor. It was a relief that these three lineages still shared the same profile after some fifty conceptions spread over 280 years. That profile, a string of numbers, was easily compared to those with Gaelic-era County Down surnames. The profile is also part of a much larger male-DNA group that is most found in Western Europe today, particularly in the Basque region and in Ireland where it is found in about 90 per cent of men.25 (By way of comparison, it occurs in around 60 per cent of British men.) It is considered to have arisen in Asia before 20,000 BC and arrived with the hunter-gatherers of Western Europe before the last ice age, millennia before Ireland even became an island.


In sum, given the tiny population in Kinelarty in the 1600s, it seems more likely that the Guinness surname came from the place Gion Ais and definitely not from the grandees of the Magennis and McCartan clans. If the name came from Magennis, it was from a humble lineage, allied but not related to the chiefs. Either way, being outside the chiefs’ electable derbfine cousinage meant that Richard’s nameless refugee ancestor had lost nothing much before moving south towards Dublin in the 1600s. Under the patrilineal Gaelic system he could never have wielded any power nor gained much wealth as a peasant on what is still a bleak hillside. In 1640 Gion Ais still belonged, along with nearby townlands, to the clan chief Phelim McCartan. In much the same way, the Bohill surname from Kinelarty derived from a hill before they moved south to Dublin.26 Others copied their chiefs’ surname instead, although they were not male-line cousins, doubtless out of a sense of belonging.


Kinelarty is still a hilly, rocky, gorse-covered area in central County Down, east of Slieve Croob. It has a wild beauty but is less productive than the rolling drumlin country of Iveagh to the west or the coastal plains of Lecale to the east. Assigned to a Captain Malby from England in 1575, it was then described as ‘all desolate and waste, full of thieves, outlaws and unreclaimed people’.27 Malby didn’t stay for long. But the barony has its considerable history, now augmented by the chiefs’ genetically confirmed lineage back to at least 600 AD, and a beautiful lakeside religious centre at Loughinisland. The most famous descendant in recent years of the McCartan chiefs, through a female line, was General Charles de Gaulle, leader of the Free French in exile between 1940 and 1944 and later the President and founder of the Fifth Republic; he fondly recalled this ancestry when visiting Ireland in the 1960s.28





CHAPTER TWO



Transitions


GIVEN THEIR BACKGROUNDS, how did Arthur’s grandparents move up in the world? Like the Reads, it seems that the nameless refugee father of Owen Guinneas somehow managed to farm some land near Dublin and kept his head above water. Gion Ais/Ginnies/Guiness became a surname, and the family was told of an origin in County Down, but the next generation never went back to Gion Ais and forgot the exact origin of the name. The details were unimportant when compared with the everyday scrabble for survival. Such families were often described as ‘mere Irish’, which sounds pejorative in English, but mere derived from the Latin merus, meaning pure or unmixed. Either Owen or his father became Protestant, which would have made life much easier if one lived near Dublin, although this was less so for farmers who lived in settled rural communities further from the capital. A refugee can join any congregation and reinvent himself.


Socially, many Irishmen were adapting themselves towards Western European modernity, and the medieval period is said to have ended in Ireland only by 1660.1 The Gaelic poets and bards, sponsored by the former chieftains, lamented by now that even the Irish poor were out of their kilts, were dressing as well as the Gaelic kings of old and were adopting English habits and language. The conclusion to the bitter poem ‘Och Mo Chreachsa Faisean Chláir Éibhir’ by Brian Mac Giolla Phádraig (c. 1675) was that the poor were getting above their proper station and were unlikely ever to sponsor him:


Each beggarwoman’s son has curled locks, bright cuffs about his paw, and a golden ring like any prince of the blood of Cas … each churl or his son is starched up around the chin, a scarf thrown around him and a garter on him, his tobacco-pipe in his gob … his hand from joint to joint bedecked with bracelets … a churl in each house that is owned by a speaker of nasty English and no one paying any heed to a man of the poetic company, save for ‘Get out, and take your precious Gaelic with you.’2


These despised churls sound typical of the likes of the Guinneas/Guinis and Read families, anglicized in both their dress and speech. They wanted to get on in life. They had nowhere to go but up, and by the last quarter of the seventeenth century they had already developed a taste for imported colonial consumer goods. Professor Kenneth Nicholls considers that ‘the status of the great mass of the population in Gaelic Ireland, the actual cultivators and labourers – “churls” as they are referred to by contemporary English writers – was very low indeed’.3 The Read and the Guinneas families had nothing to gain from a restoration of the former patrilineal Gaelic clan system. Clearly both families – Arthur’s immediate ancestors in the 1600s – had been near or at the bottom of the Gaelic social world and were at best Gaelic-origin tenant-farmers in the new Anglo-Irish order.


Ireland was undergoing changes caused variously by the civil and Williamite wars as well as the impossible lurches of Stuart policy, but it was also, gradually, becoming more of a commercial nation. In the way that destructive volcanoes cause soils to become more fertile, the many social tremors in Ireland in the 1600s also threw up fresh soil that could be used to advantage, whatever one’s origins, although most people remained poor. The historian Edmund Curtis (1950) described the Irish rural poor of the eighteenth century as ‘helots’, slaves to the system.4 Why would anyone choose to remain a helot? Many preferred to remain in a tight, interrelated community in which they were well known than to be poor in a place where nobody knew them, but they could never gain much wealth in the long term. The underlying reason for this helotry is clear, yet it is seldom mentioned: it was the cycle of being born into a poor family in a poor place, something that was true all over Europe. Some, however, found ways to break that cycle.


Professor Luke Gibbons writes feelingly of the Irish peasantry’s slavery and subjection, its servitude and ignominy, and of ‘the eighteenth century, when the majority Catholic population was kept in bondage’.5 If so, it was entirely logical for the Read and Guinneas families to move away from such a trap, and the question must be asked, why did so many others choose to remain in a rural system that offered them little or nothing? In that harsh world there was no legal restriction on Irish country folk moving away and bettering their lives. Religion and class might have hindered success but were not the principal obstacles. The worst difficulties were caused by the limited economic opportunities available in what had always been a relatively poor island and competition for land from a fast-growing potato-fed population.6


So the opportunities exploited by Arthur’s ancestors, siblings and cousins depended on their lucky proximity to Dublin, as well as their adaptability. Being a tenant-farmer as distinct from an agricultural labourer – a churl or cottier – was already a big step upwards. Professor Cullen summed it up: ‘The cottier afforded a sharp contrast with the tenant farmer. The latter knew real want only in the worst years … the former lived permanently at the subsistence line’.7 Yet many still think of both groups as being in the same economic boat. Curtis and Gibbons did not consider to what extent the labouring cottiers – the majority of the poor – were actually in bondage to the tenant-farmers, who paid them by giving them the use of a small patch of land to grow potatoes. In turn, the tenant-farmers paid a rent to a landlord or middleman, as was usual across Europe, which, in the case of the Reads’ parish, had been paid for centuries to a monastery in Dublin. Whenever a tenancy ended the tenant often had to bid for his land against others who needed to farm it – a traumatic moment but, again, common across Europe. The successful bidder could offer a rent that was uneconomically high. The important move was from cottier to tenant, but as far back as the Black Death of the 1340s many had moved from the countryside into Europe’s growing cities.


Arthur’s grandparents had somehow made that first move from the grim past, and he should be seen as standing on their shoulders. The Reads’ progression from shepherds to tenant-farmers was augmented by some small cash-flow from beer-selling after 1690. Arthur’s uncle James Read moved to Dublin and became a cutler from 1719, creating a new cash flow and new contacts, returning occasionally to Oughterard to describe new ideas and opportunities.8 The Guinneas tenant-farmers had ended with ‘dairyman’ George, who died childless in 1731; his brother William was a gunsmith in Dublin by 1720, and Richard was an agent by 1722. The farm’s dairy produce was sold in the city streets just a couple of miles away, and the boys had had a literate education of some sort. They had seen from childhood how the world went round, and they became small cogs in the machinery of commerce. At that time Elizabeth Read’s understanding of her father’s skill at brewing ale may have seemed unimportant.


Richard appeared in Celbridge, County Kildare, in 1722 working as the household agent for Dr Arthur Price (1678–1752), the Protestant Dean of Kil-dare, who finished building Celbridge House – now Oakley Park – in 1724, a fine seven-bay, three-storey house with a large garden on the edge of the village (Plate 3).9 Within a couple of years Richard had met and married Elizabeth Read, a local farmer’s daughter. The ‘Richard Guinis’ mentioned in the 1726 lease, son of Owen, fits his social profile – aged about thirty in 1720, a younger son leaving the home farm with a male-line Gaelic County Down origin. With his own background, and marrying a girl of the same status, understanding Gaelic as well as English, born Protestant, literate, he had all the ideal criteria for a wealthy clergyman’s agent in the Ireland of the 1720s.





CHAPTER THREE



Childhood


OAKLEY PARK IS a fine house, and it appears that Dr Price did not want his agent’s young family living under his roof. The date of the marriage of Richard and Elizabeth Guinness in the early 1720s is unknown, but in 1722 Price had bought James Carbery’s two-storey, six-bay malting-house on a large plot about 100 yards away on the main street, and this is where they lived (Plate 4). That way the squalls and cries of his agent’s children would not interrupt the prelate’s meditations, study or entertainments. However, Dr Price did condescend to stand as godfather to Arthur, their first-born, in 1725, modestly giving his own name, and in 1727 he gave his father’s name Samuel to the second baby.


The year of Arthur’s birth is generally given as 1725. As he was described on his gravestone as ‘78 years of age’ at his death in January 1803 it is possible that he was born in 1724. One source – the online reference Wikipedia – gives a very precise date of 25 September 1725, but then he would have been only seventy-seven at his death. It seems as if that source has pulled the third quarter-day of the year out of a hat. We can suggest January 1725, a season when newborn babies often died from the harsh winter cold unless they were sturdy.


The separate two-storey house would have been a boon for the newlyweds, a place to call their own so long as Richard kept his job. In terms of status it also put him a slight cut above any household staff that lived below stairs at Oakley Park. The house comprised ‘the House Garden Malt house Stable Barn together with a little Park behind the House as formerly in the possession of Jas. Carbery’.1 Carbery held on to a small brewery next door. Arthur’s story has barely started, but already the myths accrue: Richard is assumed to have brewed in the malthouse and may have done so, but there is no proof – Carbery’s separate brewhouse suggests not. Link a brewing family back to a malthouse and the convenient assumption is made. Probably Elizabeth brewed ale in the kitchen for her family, having learnt the skill from her father. Most likely the layout of the malthouse was such that it continued to be used only for making malted barley for the brewers in the village, so the infant Arthur would have inhaled the bracing smell of malt before he could walk. The open area at the back was about four acres, ideal for the children. Sean Dunne is not the first to imagine that ‘one of Richard’s duties was to supervise the brewing of beer for the workers on the estate’, but, in fact, Dr Price had no estate in Celbridge, just a large house with walled gardens on twenty-one acres.2 His ‘workers’ comprised his household staff, some of whom would have been part-timers and of whom we know little. Dunne has perhaps guessed on the basis that Price was relatively rich – rich people had estates, ergo, Price had an estate.


Richard first signed a proxy for Dr Price in the Kildare Chapter Book on 31 October 1722.3 The prelate was the Dean of Kildare, based at the half-ruined cathedral where only the chancel was still roofed (Plate 5). Richard’s main function was as an accountant, buying-and-selling agent and overseer for Dr Price, who, as a high-flying clergyman, could not be seen haggling and trading in the streets and markets for household items. As an agent Richard would have been entitled to a small percentage on goods bought and sold. He had plenty to supervise, taking into account the amount of care necessary to maintain a large house that was often empty, and his areas of responsibility would have included the garden, horses, a carriage of some sort, supervising the staff, a library, silverware, filing important papers and minding the priestly vestments and other such items of apparel. Dr Price never married, so it would have been usual for his housekeeper – and Richard as overseer – to keep things clean and tidy whether Price was at home or away, and to keep an eye out for damages or thefts, as would a wife.4 It was a position involving an entire trust of Price’s money and property that had to be observed to the letter. On one lease he is described as ‘agent or receiver’ for Price, a collector of rents and debts.5
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